ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL AVERY HUMPHREY,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2011-191566

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAYNE C. PHILLIPS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JAN 28 2013
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err by refusing to grant a directed verdict where the State failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant was guilty of involuntary manslaughter?

- II. Did the trial court err in refusing to dismiss Appellant's case when Appellant was denied his right to a speedy trial after the State unreasonably waited more than six years to call Appellant's case to trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 11, 2011, Appellant Michael Avery Humphrey was indicted by the Lexington County Grand Jury for involuntary manslaughter. R. 483 – 484.

On April 25, 2011, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable William P. Keesley and a jury. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Robert M. Madsen, and the State was represented by Deputy Solicitor Samuel R. Hubbard and Assistant Solicitor Lawrence G. Wedekind. R 1.

On April 27, 2011, the jury found Appellant guilty of involuntary manslaughter. R. 476, ll. 3-13. The trial court sentenced Appellant to one year imprisonment followed by two years probation. R. 481, ll. 11-21.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

State's Theory of the Case

The State sought to prove that Appellant “with criminal negligence and with reckless disregard for the safety of [his girlfriend] Ms. [Megan D.] Jackson, engaged in a physical altercation with her [on October 17, 2004,] . . . [which] led to her to fall from a moving vehicle resulting in injuries that caused her death [on October 21, 2004].” R. 7, ll. 3-14.

Specifically, the State alleged:

[T]he facts asserted by the State are that [Megan Jackson] was driving the vehicle to go to work. [Appellant] jumped in the back [of the truck], smashed out the back window in an attempt to gain control of the vehicle and [Megan Jackson]. And she either – during the struggle for the control of the vehicle, she lost that physical fight and she decided that either she had to get out of that vehicle because of what was going on in the cab or what was about to go on, but she deemed it safer or less pleasant to hit the road than it was to stay in the car with [Appellant].

R. 69, l. 23 – 70, l. 9.

Relevant Facts

On October 22, 2004, Appellant was arrested for causing the death of Megan Jackson. R. 58, ll. 13-14. More than *one year* after he was arrested, Appellant was *initially* indicted for involuntarily manslaughter on November 14, 2005. R. 58, ll. 14-17. *Five years* after Appellant was arrested, Appellant's *first* attorney moved to be relieved on November 17, 2009, and that request was granted on November 25, 2009. R. 106, ll. 4-9. Defense counsel was then appointed to represent Appellant.

More than *six years* after his arrest, Appellant proceeded to his *first* trial before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury in December of 2010. R. 105, ll. 3-8. Judge McMahon declared a mistrial after the jury was hung “eight to four.” R. 105, ll. 8-10.

Approximately *two thousand, three hundred and seventy-four days* after his arrest, Appellant was *again* indicted for involuntary manslaughter on April 11, 2011, which led to his conviction and this appeal. R.483 – 484.

Motion to Dismiss

Pretrial, defense counsel moved for dismissal based on a violation of Appellant's due process right to present a defense and right to a speedy trial. R. 60, l. 14 – 65, l. 2. Defense counsel argued that the State's delay in calling this case to trial "*is presumptively prejudicial*" because the trial will occur "*about six and half years from the alleged incident date*" and "*there are numerous witnesses who have either testified in the past or . . . given the nature of the delay, have either no memory or their memory is not nearly as clear as it used to be.*" R. 62, l. 15 – 63, l. 5 (emphasis added).

Specifically, defense counsel explained: (1) Michael Squire, a former SLED agent who was involved in the investigation could not be found and the photos he took of the accident scene are missing; (2) Kimberly Hahn, a former SLED agent who conducted DNA tests on blood found in the truck had moved to Texas and was not present to testify; (3) Wanda McNair, the coroner, had since died; (4) Lieutenant James Day of the Multidisciplinary Accident Investigation Team (MAIT) did not have any notes or reports of the reconstruction of the accident; (5) William Maye, a witness who was present at the scene moments after the accident, "does not remember everything" that occurred; and (7) John Daily, the EMS driver had no recollection of the case; and (8) the nurses who provided care for Megan Jackson also had no recollection of the case. R. 63, l. 5 – 65, l. 2; R. 70, l. 10 – 73, l. 16.

Furthermore, the trial court noted, “*I’ve got a serious question about why in the heck we’re trying this case.*” R. 90, ll. 5-9 (emphasis added). The trial court later inquired as to how many speedy trial motions were filed in this case, and defense counsel indicated that no speedy trial motions were filed prior to trial. R. 100, ll. 9-12. The trial court then asked the State, “So why has it taken six years to bring this case to trial?” R. 103, ll. 9-10. The State replied:

A couple years had passed - - usually, as you know, it doesn’t really come to fruition until we get it - - *most cases [do not come] up for trial until they’re about two and half to three years in age anyway.* So we [, the State,] started realizing that this was not going to plea out, we started to prepare for a trial.

R. 103, ll. 13-17 (emphasis added).

The State maintained that, “after two or three trial notices and requests for continuances,” Appellant’s *first* attorney was relieved as counsel on November 25, 2009, and Solicitor “Mr. Stumbo” inherited the case after Assistant Solicitor Wedekind was deployed to Afghanistan. R. 103, l. 20 – 104, l. 6. The State noted that Assistant Solicitor Wedekind returned from deployment in April of 2010 and regained control of the case. R. 104, ll. 6-11. The State further noted that after the Honorable Thomas A. Russo appointed defense counsel to represent Appellant, defense counsel moved to be relieved as counsel and that the trial court denied defense counsel’s motion. R. 104, l. 25 – 105, l. 1-2.

In response, the trial court stated, “[T]he length of the delay until the first trial, I think, is really the most relevant point, but even to this trial, it is a long time to try - - to wait to try a case.” R. 185, ll. 4-8 (emphasis added). Despite finding that “[t]he delay is troubling[,]” the trial court denied defense counsel’s motion to dismiss. R. 184, l. 24 – 191, l. 14 (emphasis added). The trial court held, “I’m compelled to deny the motion related to

the delay . . . the motion to dismiss” and “[t]he reasons for the delay seem to be acceptable” because “[t]hey don’t seem to be the product of any type of – certainly no intentional misconduct” as the delay “was related, as I said earlier, primarily to the different involvement of the attorneys.” R. 190, l. 24 – 191, l. 6. To support his denial of defense counsel’s motion, the trial court held:

At this point, there just has not been a sufficient demonstration in the Court’s view that there was a failure to record what was being investigated early on. And it seems to me that either this evidence is not going to be able to be offered against the defendant or that it’s stuff that benefits him or that it doesn’t really prejudice him substantially.

R. 187, ll. 7-14.

Trial

At trial, William Maye testified that on the morning of October 17, 2004, he “was awakened by a loud sound . . . [a]nd a few minutes later,” his wife heard “somebody hollering for help.” R. 215, ll. 1-13. Maye recalled that when he walked outside the front of his house, he saw “a [pick-up truck] that was sitting in the road and the horn was going off.” R. 215, ll. 14-16. Maye also stated that he saw “a young lady [Megan Jackson] laying on the ground [who] appeared to have been injured from the wreck” and “a black male [Appellant]” who “was hollering, Help me, help her.”¹ R. 216, ll. 9-20. Maye further testified that Appellant “was distraught and [that Megan Jackson] was laying there and she had a head injury.” R. 216, ll. 17-22. Maye noted that, although he did not see the wreck occur and that it did not appear to him that Appellant was trying to hurt Megan Jackson. R. 223, ll. 3-8.

¹ Maye identified Appellant as the “black male” he observed on the morning of October 17, 2004. R. 217, ll. 10-23.

Charles Thomas, a patrolman at the Batesburg-Leesville Police Department, maintained at trial that on October 17, 2004, he responded to a 911 call: (1) the “first thing [he] saw was a white female [Megan Jackson] laid on the side of the road on her back[;]” (2) “[t]here was a black male [Appellant] on top of her straddling her[;]” and (3) “another witness [Maye] that was standing around trying to assist in any way that he could.” R. 225, l. 2 – 226, l. 8. Thomas claimed that “while [Appellant] was straddling [Megan Jackson], he was screaming, I’m sorry, baby. I’m sorry.” R. 231, ll. 16-20.

Furthermore, Thomas claimed that Appellant told him that “he was dropped off by his cousins” and defense counsel objected based on the trial court’s pretrial ruling to exclude that statement and moved for a mistrial. R. 232, ll. 1-3. The trial court denied defense counsel’s mistrial motion and read a curative instruction to the jury at defense counsel’s request. R. 233, l. 15 – 235, l. 14. Thomas recalled that the “[t]he hood and the front fender of [of the truck] was bent in.” R. 228, ll. 13-15. Thomas also stated that he saw a shoe “about 30 to 40 feet . . . directly behind the vehicle.” R. 230, ll. 3-6. Thomas further maintained that Appellant smelled of alcohol, “was very, just very irate and panicked[,]” and was wearing a red sweater and no shoes on the morning of the accident. R. 236, ll. 3-9.

On cross-examination, Thomas admitted he testified in Appellant’s *first* trial that Appellant was crying, asking for help, and requesting an ambulance. R. 245, ll. 1-8. Thomas also admitted that he designated Megan Jackson as the driver on his traffic collision report and that he did not arrest Appellant the morning of the accident. R. 245, l. 22 – 246, l. 11.

Nicolas Vanput, a Batesburg-Leesville police officer, stated that he also responded to the 911 call on October 17, 2004. R. 258, l. 9 – 260, l. 14. Vanput’s testimony mirrored

Thomas's recollection of the scene: "When I saw [Appellant], he was upset, hysterical and he was comforting the victim, Ms. Jackson, in his arms." R. 260, ll. 4-8. Vanput maintained that Appellant "made comments . . . that some friends had dropped him off at first." R. 260, ll. 11-14. Defense counsel objected again based on the trial court's pretrial ruling to exclude that statement and moved for a mistrial. R. 260, l. 21 – 261, l. 11. The trial court denied defense counsel's motion for a mistrial and stated, "I think it's mainly cumulative and I don't really see where it rises to the level of granting a mistrial." R. 267, ll. 20-23. The trial court then provided the jury with its second curative instruction. R. 267, l. 1 – 269, l. 4.

On cross-examination, Vanput stated that when he went to the hospital, Megan Jackson was in a coma and "[b]oth her left and right arms had injuries . . . [which] *appeared to be scratch marks, could be road rash.*" R. 275, ll. 9-20 (emphasis added). Vanput maintained that he examined the vehicle and found "damage to the steering wheel column and a lot of glass, that appears [to be] from the back window." R. 278, ll. 16-20. Vanput further noted that he "found some red fleece material that matched or appeared to match the same material that the defendant was wearing on the day in question." R. 280, ll. 19-23.

James Day, executive officer of the MAIT team, stated that he was called to view the vehicle at an impound garage the day after the accident occurred. R. 299, l. 3 – 300, l. 22. Notably, Day did not visit the accident scene until years several later when the scene had changed due to the addition of a driveway, retaining wall, and shrubbery. R. 301, l. 2 – 302, l. 16. Day claimed that if a wrecked vehicle is ahead of a shoe found on the roadway, then his "first thought would be that somebody has come out of the vehicle

and the shoe came off the person.” R. 304, ll. 4-8. Day was subsequently qualified as an expert in accident reconstruction. R. 307, ll. 1-5.

Day maintained that the door to the vehicle was shut when it hit the tree because “the springs on the door were normal.” R. 307, l. 7 – 308, l. 6. Day asserted that the speed of the vehicle at the time of impact with the tree “was 25 to 28 miles an hour” and that the damage to the steering wheel was not consistent with someone sitting in the driver’s seat during a head-on collision. R. 309, l. 2 – 310, l. 17. Day further stated that the back window came inward because he found glass from the back window in the vehicle. R. 311, l. 12 – 312, l. 16.

Day claimed that based on his examination of the vehicle, “[t]here was nobody behind the driver’s steering wheel at the time of impact” and that it was not feasible for a person to have been ejected through the side window of the vehicle. R. 314, l. 16 – 315, l. 17. Day noted that Megan Jackson’s injuries consisted of “a cracked skull, which is consistent with hitting the ground” and “*road rash on her arms, hands and head, which are consistent with being on the pavement sliding, creating, what we call, road rash, which is rubbing of the skin.*” So all of [Megan Jackson’s] injuries were consistent of being outside of the vehicle and in contact with the roadway and not behind the steering wheel.” R. 316, ll. 13-21 (emphasis added). Day maintained that it was his opinion, “[Megan Jackson] was not in the vehicle at the time of the collision. She . . . had come out of the vehicle prior to the collision.” R. 316, ll. 21-24.

Day admitted that he did *not* prepare a written report of the accident recreation in 2004, and no one from the MAIT team investigated the scene on the day the accident occurred. R. 317, l. 5 – 319, l. 15. Day also admitted that he visited the accident scene

approximately five years later and that it was significantly different than it was on the morning of the incident. R. 324, l. 11 – 325, l. 14. When defense counsel asked Day, “[S]o, realistically, your independent recollection of what happened on the 18th is not real good with no notes, no reports, correct?” and Day replied, “I was not at the scene at the time of the collision. Once we found out it was a criminal investigation, we backed out of it and turned it back over to Batesburg-Leesville to do their criminal investigation.” R. 322, ll. 2-6.

Emitt Gilliam, a former Batesburg-Leesville police officer, maintained that he spoke to Appellant at the hospital on the day of the incident, Appellant waived his Miranda rights, and Appellant voluntarily gave a statement. R. 333, l. 25 – 347, l. 8. Gilliam then read Appellant’s statement aloud to the jury. R. 348, l. 1 – 350, l. 1. In that statement, Appellant stated: (1) that he came home drunk and told his girlfriend Megan Jackson that she could not go to work because she had to watch their children; (2) that they argued and she got in the truck and proceeded to drive away; (3) that he then jumped in the back of the truck and was instructing her to stop; and (4) that

Megan was trying to fall out - - fall out [of the truck], so [he] punched the back window [out] and grabbed Megan by the back of her pants. . . . [S]o that Megan wouldn't fall out. . . . [B]efore I knew anything else, we hit a light pole, then Megan stumbled out of the truck to the passenger side and fell down. Then I ran over to her and stated screaming and crying. I don't remember anything else after that, but telling the police to get in contact with someone like my father to make sure my kids was okay.

R. 348, l. 5 – 349, l. 23 (emphasis added). Appellant also denied in his statement that he tried to scare Megan Jackson into stopping the truck. R. 351, ll. 8-11.

Wallace Oswald, the Batesburg-Leesville chief of police, admitted that he has never seen the photographs taken by the SLED agent of the scene nor does he know where those photographs are located. R. 370, ll. 3-7. Oswald also admitted that the SLED agent who processed the scene no longer works for SLED and that he also does not know where the SLED agent is located. R. 375, ll. 1-12. Oswald speculated that Megan Jackson was not attempting to commit suicide when the collision occurred. R. 381, ll. 6-12.

William Armstrong, a licensed medical doctor who was qualified at trial as an expert in forensic pathology, examined photographs of the Megan Jackson's autopsy, the investigating coroner's verbal description, and the police department's summary of events. R. 394, ll. 1-18. Armstrong noted that Megan Jackson had a "severe closed head injury with skull fractures" and that "*based on the somewhat limited information [he] had since a second party was involved, [he] called it a homicide.*" R. 395, ll. 7-23 (emphasis added).

Armstrong stated that Megan Jackson had "scrapes and abrasions along the arms, upper arms, and in the elbow area . . . , some scrapes over the surface of the hand, both hands" that was consistent with "*road rash.*" R. 399, l. 17 – 400, l. 21 (emphasis added). Armstrong found that "there were no chest imprints of the steering wheel" on Megan Jackson's body and that he "*can't completely exclude that*" the scratch marks on Megan's arms were caused by a road surface. R. 403, ll. 7-14 (emphasis added).

On cross-examination, Armstrong admitted that the scratches were superficial and that he also could *not* exclude the possibility the scratches occurred after the accident when she was being restrained on the pavement. R. 406, ll. 2-22. Armstrong also admitted that he did not find slap marks or knuckle prints on Megan's body. R. 407, l. 21 – 408, l. 10.

Directed Verdict Motion

At the close of the State's case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict. R. 411, l. 22 – 414, l. 21. Defense counsel argued, “given the lack of direct evidence, we believe that their case is largely circumstantial and we believe that the evidence submitted to the jury - - submitted does not rise to the level of substantial circumstantial evidence sufficient to submit this case.” R. 412, ll. 4-9. The trial court denied the directed verdict motion:

I don't know what I might ultimately have to do with this case, but at this stage having to view all the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, *I think I am required to deny the directed verdict motion as it related to engaging in an unlawful act not naturally tending to result in death or serious bodily injury that does in fact result in the death of another person. As for the theory of responsibility for involuntarily manslaughter arising from a lawful act, there's no evidence to support that form which a jury could convict.* If [Appellant] was acting lawfully, then punching out the window to try to rescue her is not criminal recklessness.

R. 425, l. 15 – 426, l. 3 (emphasis added).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred by refusing to grant a directed verdict because the State failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant was guilty of involuntary manslaughter.

The South Carolina Supreme Court “has repeatedly affirmed the principle that when the State fails to produce *substantial circumstantial evidence* that the defendant committed a particular crime, the defendant is entitled to a directed verdict.” *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2011) (emphasis added). In *Odems*, this Court cited *State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011), and *State v. Lollis*, 343 S.C. 580, 541 S.E.2d 254 (2001), as “jurisprudence . . . instructive in explaining the proof required in cases built wholly on circumstantial evidence.” *Id.* Specifically, the trial court “should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence *merely raises a suspicion* that the accused is guilty.” *Odems*, 395 S.C. at 586, 720 S.E.2d at 50 (emphasis added) (citation omitted). “Suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” *See State v. Buckmon*, 347 S.C. 316, 322, 555 S.E.2d 402, 404-05 (2001) (internal quotation omitted).

Involuntary manslaughter is (1) the unintentional killing of another without malice, but while engaged in an unlawful activity not naturally tending to cause death or great bodily harm or (2) the unintentional killing of another without malice, while engaged in a lawful activity with reckless disregard for the safety of others. *State v. Wharton*, 381 S.C. 209, 216, 672 S.E.2d 786, 789 (2009). “To constitute involuntary manslaughter, there must be a finding of criminal negligence, statutorily defined as a reckless disregard of the safety of others.” *State v. Crosby*, 355 S.C. 47, 52, 584 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2003). “Recklessness is a state of mind in which the actor is aware of his or

her conduct, yet consciously disregards a risk which his or her conduct is creating.” *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 571, 647 S.E.2d 144, 167 (2007).

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