STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2011-191566

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

MICHAEL AVERY HUMPHREY,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA J. CATOE
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **The trial judge properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion on the charge of involuntary manslaughter where evidence supported that Appellant's reckless disregard for the safety of others resulted in the death of his girlfriend.**

- II. **Appellant's right to a speedy trial was not violated where Appellant did not assert his speedy trial right until the pre-trial motions of his second trial, where the delay was not the result of willfulness or neglect on the part of the State, and where the delay did not result in actual prejudice to Appellant.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was initially indicted in Lexington County in November 2005 for involuntary manslaughter in connection with the death of his girlfriend. Following a mistrial due to a hung jury in December 2010, Appellant was re-indicted in April 2011. On April 25-27, 2011, he proceeded to his second trial before the Honorable William P. Keesley. The jury found Appellant guilty, and Judge Keesley imposed a sentence of one year, suspended upon service of three days of time served and two years of probation. The sentence provided that probation could be terminated after just one year if Appellant complied with all terms and paid his fines and fees. A notice of appeal was timely served and filed.

ARGUMENT

III. The trial judge properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion on the charge of involuntary manslaughter where evidence supported that Appellant's reckless disregard for the safety of others resulted in the death of his girlfriend.

In ruling on a motion for directed verdict, the trial judge must view the evidence, and all of its reasonable inferences, in the light most favorable to the State. See State v. Frazier, 375 S.C. 575, 581, 654 S.E.2d 280, 283 (2007). If the State presents direct or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the defendant, including evidence from which his guilt can be logically deduced, the defendant's directed verdict motion is properly denied. State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001). The South Carolina Supreme Court has stated that the appropriate test to be applied when reviewing a directed verdict motion in a case relying solely on circumstantial evidence is as follows:

When the state relies exclusively on circumstantial evidence and a motion for a directed verdict is made, the circuit court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not with its weight. The circuit court should not refuse to grant the directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty. "Suspicion" implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof. However, **a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.**

State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004) (citations omitted) (emphasis in original). Accordingly, an analysis of the trial judge's ruling hinges on whether all of the circumstantial evidence taken together was sufficient for the jury to reasonably infer the defendant's guilt for the crimes beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 595, 606 S.E.2d at 478. On appeal from the denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the appellate court may only reverse the trial court only if there is no evidence to support the

trial court's ruling. See, e.g., State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002). “[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge’s ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986).

In this case, the trial judge did not err in denying Appellant’s directed verdict motion because the State presented sufficient evidence to establish Appellant’s guilt on the charge of involuntary manslaughter. Such evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, is as follows. Around 5:30 or 5:45 am on October 17, 2004, Appellant returned home from a nightclub in Columbia. (R. p. 348). He was still drunk and wanted to sleep it off rather than take care of his two children. (See R. p. 348; p. 236, lines 3-4). Therefore, upon arriving home, he told his girlfriend (the victim), who was a nurse at Saluda Nursing Home, that she could not go to work that morning because she needed to stay and watch the kids. (R. p. 348). The victim and Appellant then argued for a while before Appellant went and got in bed. (R. p. 348).

After Appellant got in bed, the victim, wearing her work attire and having her work ID badge, got in her 1993 Ford Ranger pickup truck and headed in the direction of her job. (R. p. 348-49; p. 230-31; p. 259, lines 12-14; p. 277, lines 15-16; p. 295; see also R. p. 442, lines 12-18). As she was pulling off, Appellant ran outside - leaving the door unlocked and the two children alone - and jumped in the back of the truck, yelling at her to stop. (R. p. 348-49; p. 270, lines 8-17). When the victim refused to stop, Appellant, still in the truck bed, punched out the truck’s back window and partially climbed through the back of the truck, grabbing at the victim. (R. p. 349; p. 377, lines 14-21; p. 403, lines

1-16). At some point during this struggle, the victim exited the truck head-first and hit the pavement. (R. p. 304-17; p. 366, lines 1-21; p. 398-403; p. 409-410).

No longer having a driver, the truck veered off the side of the road and crashed into a tree.¹ (See R. p. 300-33; p. 402). At the time of the collision, the truck was going approximately twenty-five to twenty-eight miles per hour. (R. p. 309, lines 2-7). The collision with the tree caused Appellant, still partway in the truck's back window, to fall forward and sustain injuries to his right shoulder from hitting the steering column and the dash. (See R. p. 325-29). A nearby neighbor who awoke to sounds from the collision came outside to investigate while his wife called 911. (R. p. 210-15). When he inquired of Appellant, who still smelled strongly of alcohol, how he came to be at the scene of the accident, Appellant told him that he had been "dropped off." (R. p. 218, lines 1-5; p. 236, lines 3-4). When Officer Thomas arrived on the scene, he heard Appellant apologizing to the victim, stating, "I'm sorry, baby." (R. p. 231, lines 16-22). Shortly thereafter, emergency responders arrived and the victim was air-lifted to Palmetto Richland Hospital via helicopter. (R. p. 292-93; p. 394, lines 2-4). Meanwhile, Appellant was taken to the hospital in Lexington to be treated for the injuries to his shoulder. (R. p. 292, lines 12-16).

The victim ultimately died from the injuries she sustained in the incident, and Dr. Armstrong, who had been a forensic pathologist for thirty-three years, performed an autopsy on her on October 21, 2004. (See R. p. 391-404). The autopsy revealed that the victim's death was the result of a severe closed head injury accompanied by skull fractures. (R. p. 395). The skull fractures were caused by the victim sustaining blunt force trauma to the front of her head and was consistent with the victim's head having hit

¹ In his statements to police, Appellant claimed that the victim was still in the vehicle at the time of the collision. (See 10/17/04 and 10/19/04 Statements).

the concrete road surface. (R. p. 398-99). The skull fractures caused extensive intracranial hemorrhages and brain swelling, which ultimately resulted in brain death. (R. p. 395). Dr. Armstrong also found scrapes and abrasions on the victim's upper arms, elbows, and on the palms of both hands. (See R. p. 399). The victim also had linear scratches on her left shoulder and along her right abdomen. (R. p. 400). Although some of the abrasions were consistent with "road rash," the linear scratch marks were consistent with scratches from human fingernails. (R. p. 399-403; p. 403, lines 1-16). Dr. Armstrong listed the victim's death as a homicide. (R. p. 403, lines 17-24).

Appellant gave two voluntary statements to police, the first on the evening of the incident. In this statement, Appellant admitted to arguing with the victim prior to the incident and admitted he was trying to get the victim to stop the truck and go back home. (See 10/17/04 Statement). He also admitted that he was grabbing at the victim after he punched out the back window of the truck, although he claimed that he was grabbing at the victim because she was "trying to fall out" of the truck.² (See 10/17/04 Statement). However, he denied that he tried to "scare" the victim into pulling over or going back to the house. (See 10/17/04 Statement). In his second statement, Appellant professed that he had no knowledge of why the victim would be trying to get out of the moving vehicle. (See 10/19/04 Statement). Specifically, when asked whether the victim was trying to get away from him, Appellant's response was as follows: "For what? Why would she be trying to getting from me? No." (See 10/19/04 Statement).

² Appellant claimed that, rather than reaching to the side and simply holding the driver's door closed, he punched through the glass of the back window and hoisted himself inside so that he could grab the victim by the back of her pants so that she would not fall out of the truck. (See 10/17/04 Statement).

The above evidence, along with the reasonable inferences that could be drawn therefrom, supported that a drunk and angry Appellant, with reckless disregard for the safety of others, engaged in a physical altercation with the victim while she was driving her truck, and that this physical altercation - particularly Appellant's punching out of the glass in the truck's back window and grabbing at the victim through this window - led to the victim's attempted escape from the moving vehicle and ultimately to her death as a result of the fatal injuries she sustained when she fell out of the truck.

Despite the fact that Appellant denied any guilt in his statements to police and instead claimed to be trying to rescue the victim from "trying to fall out" of the vehicle, the jury was entitled to discredit Appellant's self-serving, totally implausible, and patently unbelievable story. See Vereen v. Liberty Life Ins. Co., 306 S.C. 423, 428-29, 412 S.E.2d 425, 427 (Ct. App. 1991) ("Furthermore, evidence is not rendered undisputed simply because there is no direct evidence contradicting it; there still remains the question of its inherent probability, the credibility of the witness, and the inferences to be drawn.") (citations omitted); Smith v. Safeco Life Ins. Co., 303 S.C. 131, 136, 399 S.E.2d 427, 429 (Ct. App. 1990) ("In weighing conflicting testimony, however, a jury may believe that part of the testimony which convinces it more heavily toward one view of the facts as opposed to another view. The jury is also free to accept a portion of a witness's testimony and reject a portion."); see also U.S. v. Brown, 53 F.3d 312, 314 (11th Cir. 1995) (a statement by a defendant, if disbelieved by the jury, may be considered as substantive evidence of the defendant's guilt); compare U.S. v. Kenny, 645 F.2d 1323, 1347 (9th Cir. 1981) ("When the defendant elects to testify, he runs the risk that if disbelieved, the trier of fact may conclude that the opposite of his testimony is the truth.").

Indeed, it was obvious Appellant had lied about the victim being inside the vehicle at the time of the collision. (See 10/17/04 and 10/19/04 Statements; R. p. 304-17; p. 402). Therefore, the jury could reasonably infer that Appellant was also lying when he claimed that the victim was not scared of him and was not trying to get away from him, especially considering that he was admittedly drunk and clearly out-of-control in that he had just broken the back window right behind the victim - while she was driving a vehicle on a public roadway - when she refused to comply with his demands to stop and go back home.

Accordingly, since there was evidence in the record supporting that Appellant was guilty of involuntary manslaughter, Appellant's directed verdict motion was properly denied. (See R. p. 411-29; p. 512, lines 7-23). See State v. Vanderhorst, 257 S.C. 114, 117, 184 S.E.2d 540, 541 (1971) ("When the evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, questions of fact must be submitted to the jury. Among other considerations is the credibility of the witnesses, including that of the appellant himself."); State v. Brown, 205 S.C. 514, 520, 32 S.E.2d 825, 827 (1945) ("Where there is any evidence, however slight, on which the jury may justifiably find the existence or the non-existence of material facts in issue, or if the evidence is of such character that different conclusions as to such facts reasonably may be drawn therefrom, the issues should be submitted to the jury."); See Coleman v. Palmetto State Life Ins. Co., 241 S.C. 384, 387, 128 S.E.2d 699, 700 (1962) ("Where evidence is conflicting or different inferences can reasonably be drawn therefrom, issue should be submitted to jury").

IV. Appellant's right to a speedy trial was not violated where Appellant did not assert his speedy trial right until the pre-trial motions of his second trial, where the delay was not the result of willfulness or neglect on the part of the State, and where the delay did not result in actual prejudice to Appellant.

Relevant Facts

The incident in question occurred on October 17, 2004, and Appellant was arrested five days later, on October 22, 2004, after the victim died the day before. (R. p. 58). Appellant remained in jail less than three full days before bonding out on October 24, 2004. (R. p. 107, lines 17-20). Appellant was first indicted by the grand jury on November 14, 2005. (R. p. 58). Notably, in this particular county, due to the docket backload, it was normal for cases not to go to trial before two-and-a-half or three years. (R. p. 103). Appellant's first attorney "intimated" that the case would be resolved through a guilty plea; therefore, the assistant solicitor and defense counsel approached the case as if it would be a plea. (R. p. 103). After the assistant solicitor realized that the case was apparently not going to be resolved by a plea, he began sending out trial notices, and there were several requests for continuances (presumably by Appellant). (See R. p. 103). Therefore, although the assistant solicitor wanted to have the case tried before he was deployed overseas in August of 2009, he was unable to do so. (R. p. 103).

Thereafter, Appellant's first attorney was "dismissed" by Appellant, and this attorney's request to be relieved as counsel was officially granted in late November 2009. (R. p. 103-104; p. 106). Then "there became a whole series of issues about [Appellant] needing to find additional time to get new counsel." (R. p. 104, lines 2-4). Importantly, Appellant was "working and ha[d] a good job" during this time. (See R. p. 186, lines 21-22). After the assistant solicitor was deployed overseas, another assistant solicitor was assigned to the case and made some further attempts to work out the case through a plea.

(R. p. 104). However, these attempts failed, and when the originally-assigned solicitor returned from his deployment in April 2010, he immediately tried to get Appellant “brought in” because Appellant had no defense counsel at the time. (R. p. 104). Appellant then appeared before Judge Newman and was warned regarding the dangers of self-representation. (R. p. 104). Appellant was thereafter served with a trial notice. (R. p. 104). At that time, Appellant wanted to hire his own counsel, and he did in fact hire his own private investigator. (R. p. 104). However, later, Appellant had still not retained counsel, and finally Judge Russo appointed trial counsel to represent Appellant. (R. p. 104). Trial counsel initially accepted the case, but then made a motion to be relieved based upon Appellant making too much income to qualify for a public defender. (R. p. 104-105). Judge Keesley (who ended up being Appellant’s trial judge) denied the motion. (R. p. 105). Importantly, no speedy trial motions had been made by Appellant up to this point; indeed, Appellant **never** raised the issue of a speedy trial until just before his second trial. (R. p. 100, lines 9-12).

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